
7

2
Bilateral Trade and Investment

As in the case of the US-Mexico relationship, free trade between the
United States and Korea would create a partnership between countries
with great disparities in size and economic development. The United
States has the world’s largest economy, with a GDP in 2000 of almost $10
trillion. The Korean economy is the world’s 13th largest economy, with
a GDP in 1999 of about $406 billion—almost as large as Mexico’s but less
than 5 percent of the US economy’s size (table 2.1).

Compared with Mexico, Korea’s population is smaller but relatively
richer. Korea has 47 million people, half as many as Mexico, but its per
capita GDP is almost twice as large as Mexico’s. In terms of population,
the United States has 273 million people, almost six times larger than
Korea’s. US per capita GDP was about $34,000 while that of Korea was
about $8,800 in 1999.1 The United States is the world’s largest trader, with
about $1.7 trillion of merchandise trade in 1999. Korea is the 11th largest
economy in terms of trade volume; Korea’s merchandise trade totaled
$265 billion in 1999, or about one-sixth of US trade. The two countries
are distant partners separated by the Pacific Ocean, with 7,000 miles
between their capital cities, Seoul and Washington.

1. However, using current purchasing-power parities (ppp) calculated by the OECD, the
per capita GDP of Korea is about $16,000, almost half of that of the United States.
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Table 2.1 Comparison of US, Korean, and Mexican economies,
1999

United
Indicator States Korea Mexico

Nominal GDP (millions of dollars) 9,256,100 406,940 483,353
Population (millions) 273 47 104
Per capita GDP (dollars)

At market exchange rate 33,900 8,800 4,900
At purchasing power parity* 33,900 15,900 8,100

Trade volume (millions of dollars) 1,754,340 264,495 278,767
Exports 695,210 144,745 136,703
Imports 1,059,130 119,750 142,064

* Based on OECD calculations.

Sources: IMF, International Financial Statistics, August 2000; OECD, OECD in Figures:
Statistics for Member Countries, 2000.

Historically, there have been few instances of developed and developing
countries successfully entering into reciprocal free trade agreements.
NAFTA is the most prominent example. The Mexico-European Union
FTA and the Canada-Chile FTA are two other relevant cases. In addition,
negotiations are under way to link 34 developed and developing countries
in a Free Trade Area of the Americas. In each case, the developing country
undertook substantial economic reforms before engaging in free trade talks
with industrial country partners. For example, Mexico pursued intensive
trade and macroeconomic reforms for five years before it felt prepared
to enter into FTA talks with the United States. Mexico’s homework paid
off; it has successfully carried out its FTA obligations, managed a turbulent
adjustment to freer trade (exacerbated by a severe currency crisis at the end
of the first year of NAFTA implementation), and subsequently generated
robust growth since 1996.

Table 2.1 shows that Korea and Mexico have similar levels of trade and
GDP but that Korea is more developed in terms of per capita GDP. Like
Mexico in the late 1980s, Korea has pursued important economic reforms
(though perhaps not as steadfastly as Mexico) and deepened its demo-
cratic processes. Thus there is no overriding reason for Korea to be intimi-
dated by the difference in economic standing if it were to pursue an FTA
with the United States.

To reinforce this point, we assessed Korea’s ‘‘FTA readiness’’ using
indicators developed by Hufbauer and Schott (1994) in their examination
of economic integration among countries in the Western Hemisphere.
Using the same methodology, table 2.2 compares the FTA readiness indi-
cators for major trading countries in the Asia Pacific. Overall, Korea’s
FTA readiness is slightly worse than that of other developed countries
in the region but is comparable to that of Mexico and Chile, which had
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BILATERAL TRADE AND INVESTMENT 11

the highest scores among Latin American countries in the Hufbauer and
Schott study.

Although Korea seems ready to enter into an FTA, many people could
question the feasibility of an FTA between the United States and Korea
from the standpoint of the huge physical distance separating them. How-
ever, geographic proximity is no longer as important a factor for economic
integration as in the past due to the rapid development of transportation
and communications technology in recent years. Instead, we assess the
revealed readiness for integration, indicated by the existing level of trade
and investment linkages between the two economies.

Trade and Investment Flows

Meaningful economic relations between the United States and Korea
began in the late 1940s after World War II. As the Korean economy grew,
economic relations between the two countries evolved from a donor-
recipient relationship involving US aid in the 1950s to a major trading
partnership in recent years. The two countries share a very important
economic relationship.

For Korea, the United States is its most important trading partner (in
both exports and imports). In 1999 Korea’s exports to the United States
accounted for 20.5 percent of total Korean exports, the highest among
Korea’s trading partners, followed by Japan with an 11 percent share
(table 2.3). To be sure, the US share is well below its recent peak level of
40 percent in 1986, but the US market has become more important again
since Korea’s economic crisis.2 In the 1990s, Korean exports to the United
States accounted for more than 6 percent of Korea’s GDP. Imports from
the United States also rank first in Korea’s total imports. In 1999 the US
share in total Korean imports was about 21 percent, followed by Japan
with a 20 percent share. The US import share has consistently been
between 20 and 28 percent since the early 1970s. Japan formerly ranked
highest in total Korean imports; its share peaked at 41 percent in 1972
but since has declined and has been superceded by the United States as
the number-one source of Korean imports since 1996.

Naturally, Korea is not as important a trading partner for the United
States as the United States is for Korea.3 Nevertheless, Korea still ranks

2. A similar trend applies to Korean exports to Japan. The share of Korean exports to Japan
peaked at 39 percent of total Korean exports in 1973 and since has declined steadily. In
both cases, the trend reflects Korea’s diversification of its export market, particularly to
China, which now takes up about 10 percent of Korean exports.

3. Neither has trade assumed such a large portion of the US economy. US merchandise
exports account for less than 8 percent of GDP, compared with more than 35 percent for
Korea (see table 2.1).
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12 FREE TRADE BETWEEN KOREA AND THE UNITED STATES?

Table 2.3 Trade shares of major trading partners of Korea, 1971-99
(percent of total)

Exports to Imports from

Year United States Japan China United States Japan China

1971 49.8 24.5 — 27.5 39.8 —
1972 47.1 25.2 — 25.7 40.9 —
1973 31.7 38.5 — 28.3 40.7 —
1974 33.5 30.9 — 24.8 38.2 —
1975 30.2 25.4 — 25.9 33.5 —
1976 32.3 23.4 — 22.4 35.3 —
1977 31.0 21.4 — 22.6 36.3 —
1978 31.9 20.7 — 20.3 40.0 —
1979 29.1 22.3 — 22.6 32.7 —
1980 26.3 17.4 — 21.9 26.3 —
1981 26.6 16.5 — 23.2 24.4 —
1982 28.6 15.5 — 24.6 21.9 —
1983 33.7 13.9 — 24.0 23.8 —
1984 35.8 15.7 — 22.4 24.9 —
1985 35.5 15.0 — 20.8 24.3 —
1986 40.0 15.6 — 20.7 34.4 —
1987 38.7 17.8 0.4 21.4 33.3 2.1
1988 35.3 19.8 0.6 24.6 30.7 2.7
1989 33.1 21.6 0.7 25.9 28.4 2.8
1990 29.8 19.4 0.9 24.3 26.6 3.2
1991 25.8 17.2 1.4 23.2 25.9 4.2
1992 23.6 15.1 3.5 22.4 23.8 4.6
1993 22.1 14.1 6.3 21.4 23.9 4.7
1994 21.4 14.1 6.5 21.1 24.8 5.3
1995 19.3 13.6 7.3 22.5 24.1 5.5
1996 16.7 12.2 8.8 22.2 20.9 5.7
1997 15.9 10.8 10.0 20.7 19.2 6.9
1998 17.2 9.2 9.0 21.9 18.1 7.0
1999 20.5 11.1 9.5 20.8 20.2 7.4

Note: Until 1987, there was officially no direct trade between China and Korea.

Sources: National Statistical Office of Korea, Major Statistics of the Korean Economy, 1999,
and Korea Customs Service, http://www.customs.go.kr.

as the sixth largest US trading partner, following the European Union,
Canada, Japan, Mexico, and China (table 2.4). In 1999 US trade volume
(goods and services) with Korea was $65 billion, with $28 billion in exports
and $37 billion in imports. In 1999 US exports to Korea accounted for
only 3 percent of total US exports (or 0.31 percent of US GDP), and
US imports from Korea accounted for 3 percent of total US imports.
Throughout the 1990s, US trade with Korea has been between 2 and 4
percent of total US trade.

Overall, the United States has run a significant trade deficit with Korea
since 1998, when US exports to Korea fell sharply due to the Korean
economic crisis and the ensuing economic downturn. In 1999, the United
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Table 2.4 Goods and services trade: Shares of major trading
partners of the United States, 1999

Trade
Countries Exports Imports volumes Balance

European Union-15
Millions of dollars 226,688 256,887 483,575 �30,199
Percent 23.9 21.5 22.6

Canada
Millions of dollars 166,865 213,464 380,329 �46,599
Percent 17.6 17.9 17.8

Japan
Millions of dollars 84,809 146,643 231,452 �61.834
Percent 9.0 12.3 10.8

Mexico
Millions of dollars 93,925 118,801 212,726 �24,876
Percent 9.9 10.0 9.9

China
Millions of dollars 15,251 85,454 100,705 �70,203
Percent 1.6 7.2 4.7

Korea
Millions of dollars 28,293 36,818 65,111 �8,525
Percent 3.0 3.1 3.0

Taiwan
Millions of dollars 22,500 38,571 61,071 �16,071
Percent 2.4 3.2 2.9

Singapore
Millions of dollars 18,992 20,301 39,293 �1,309
Percent 2.0 1.7 1.8

Hong Kong
Millions of dollars 14,253 14,177 28,430 76
Percent 1.5 1.2 1.3

Malaysia
Millions of dollars 9,678 21,766 31,444 �12,088
Percent 1.0 1.8 1.5

Rest of world
Millions of dollars 266,232 239,378 505,610 26,854
Percent 28.1 20.1 23.6

Total
Millions of dollars 947,486 1,192,260 2,139,746 �244,774

Note: Figures for service trade are for private transactions only.

Sources: US International Trade Commission, http://www.dataweb.usitc.gov; Bureau of Eco-
nomic Analysis, US Department of Commerce, http://www.bea.doc.gov; IMF, Direction of
Trade Statistics, 1999.

States had a $9.4 billion deficit in merchandise trade with Korea, which
was only partially offset by its $0.9 billion surplus in bilateral services
trade (tables 2.5 and 2.6).4 The largest US service export items to Korea
are travel services, port services, royalties and license fees, education, and
other business and professional services (table 2.7). For Korea, travel,

4. However, it should be noted that the United States has averaged a surplus of about $4.5
billion a year in agricultural and raw material trade since 1995.
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18 FREE TRADE BETWEEN KOREA AND THE UNITED STATES?

passenger fares, and freight are the important service exports to the
United States.

Throughout the 1990s the United States has been the largest source
of foreign direct investment (FDI) inflow in Korea, followed by Japan.
However, as table 2.8 shows, its share of total FDI in Korea has been
declining.5 At the end of 1999, the US FDI stock in Korea was $8 billion,
less than 1 percent of total US FDI stock abroad but about 32 percent of
the total FDI stock in Korea.6

Historically, and unlike US investment in most of Asia, the dominant
modality of US investment in Korea has been through minority stakes in
joint ventures rather than fully owned subsidiaries or majority-owned
joint ventures. However, this pattern has been changing since the recent
economic crisis in Korea; the ensuing liberalization of foreign investment
rules has led more US investors to take majority ownership stakes in
Korean industry. Continuing this trend will further strengthen US-Korea
economic ties. As Noland (1996) reports, increases in FDI serve to increase
both the volume of trade and the political resiliency of trade relations
between the United States and its trading partners in Asia.

Although FDI in Korea has increased significantly in recent years, tradi-
tionally FDI has not been an important part of the Korean economy. For
example, Kim (1999) shows that the ratios of FDI inflow to total fixed
capital and of FDI stock to GDP in Korea are 1.3 percent and 2.6 percent
respectively, much lower than the Southeast Asian country averages (7.4
and 14.6 percent respectively) and the world averages (5.6 and 10.6 percent
respectively).

Complementarity of Exports

A bilateral FTA would spur increased trade flows between the two coun-
tries. The increase in bilateral trade can result from the substitution of
traded goods for higher priced, domestically produced goods (trade cre-
ation) and/or the displacement of imports from other countries outside
the FTA bloc (trade diversion). For example, if US auto exports to Korea
increase as a result of a US-Korea FTA, that increase may be due to a
reduction in sales of Korean cars or in sales of European cars in the Korean
market or both.

5. While Japanese and US investments have declined since 1996, investment from Europe,
particularly from the Netherlands and Germany, has increased remarkably in recent years
as European countries have increasingly recognized the strategic importance of the Korean
market. See Kim (2000).

6. As one would expect, Korea’s FDI in the United States is not very significant. At the
end of 1998, Korea’s total FDI stock in the United States was $285 million, which was less
than 0.1 percent of the total FDI stock in the United States of $812 billion.
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Depending on whether the sectoral pattern of bilateral trade is competi-
tive or complementary, an FTA could have different effects on trade
flows.7 In other words, the sources of export growth in bilateral trade
resulting from an FTA would vary by sector, depending on the compara-
tive advantage of each country in different sectors. Thus it is important
to study the pattern of trade between the United States and Korea in
order to assess the impact of an FTA.

Table 2.5 reports sectoral patterns of trade between the United States
and Korea. Over the past five years (see Choi 1993 for a study of earlier
years), manufactured goods accounted for about 60 percent of US exports
to Korea, agriculture and raw materials for a little less than 20 percent,
and services for about 20 percent of total US exports to Korea. By contrast,
more than 80 percent of US imports from Korea are manufactured prod-
ucts and agricultural imports are insignificant. Not surprisingly, the
United States traditionally runs a bilateral trade deficit with Korea in the
manufacturing sector and a surplus in the services and agricultural sectors.

A closer look at the bilateral trade pattern of the United States and
Korea (table 2.9) reveals that US exports to Korea are mainly concentrated
in agricultural and food products, chemicals, machinery products, and
travel services. These sectors together account for two-thirds of total US
exports to Korea since 1997. In particular, the machinery exports’ share
is almost half of total US exports to Korea. The most important export
item, as shown in table 2.10, is computers, peripherals, and semiconduc-
tors, with more than $7 billion of exports in 1999, followed by industrial
machinery, chemicals, civilian aircraft, and telecommunications equip-
ment.

Korean exports to the United States are concentrated in textiles and
apparel, chemicals and plastics, metal products, machinery, and nonpas-
senger transportation services (table 2.9). These items account for three-
quarters of total Korean exports to the United States since 1997. As in the
case of US exports to Korea, machinery products account for more than
50 percent of total Korean exports to the United States. The top six items
with more than $1 billion of exports to the United States in 1999 were
computers, peripherals, and semiconductors; automobiles; apparel; tele-
communications equipment; household goods; and industrial machinery.
The largest export items are computers, peripherals, and semiconductors,
which account for more than one-third of the total. In 1999 Korea exported
more than $12 billion worth of computers, peripherals, and semiconduc-
tors to the United States. Semiconductor exports are larger than those of

7. The mere fact that an FTA could increase trade flows does not necessarily mean that an
FTA would yield an economic efficiency gain. See appendix A for more discussion on the
impact of an FTA on trade creation and diversion and their impact on economic efficiency.
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Table 2.9 US-Korea trade by major industry, 1997-99

1997 1998 1999

Millions Millions Millions
Selected industry of dollars Percent of dollars Percent of dollars Percent

US exports to Korea, FAS value
Agricultural and food 2,815 9 2,212 11 1,857 7

products
Chemicals 2,515 8 1,635 8 2,073 7
Machinery 13,141 41 9,025 43 13,935 49
Travel services 2,056 6 991 5 1,251 4

Subtotal 20,527 64 13,863 66 19,116 68
Total 31,952 100 20,933 100 28,293 100

US imports from Korea, CIF value
Textiles and apparel 2,368 9 2,718 10 3,479 9
Chemicals and 1,189 4 1,372 5 406 1

plastics
Metals 819 3 1,430 5 1,268 3
Machinery 15,802 57 15,033 54 21,075 57
Nonpassenger 1,762 6 1,403 5 1,551 4

transportation

Subtotal 21,940 79 21,956 79 27,779 75
Total 27,701 100 27,833 100 36,818 100

CIF � cost, insurance, freight
FAS � free alongside ship

Sources: US International Trade Commission, http://www.usitc.gov; and US Department of
Commerce, Cross-border Service Exports and Imports by Type and Country, 1997, http://
www.bea.doc.gov.

computers and their parts. In 1999 Korea exported $6.6 billion worth of
semiconductors to the United States.8

Overall, the two countries show a complementary trade pattern in most
sectors, with the notable exceptions of telecommunications equipment,
computers, and semiconductors, where bilateral trade seems highly com-
petitive.9 The trade pattern between the United States and Korea in agricul-
ture and services industries seems to indicate that US firms have a compar-
ative advantage in those industries. In the manufacturing sector, the two
countries exchange different goods. Korea mainly exports some light

8. Korea is the world’s largest producer of memory chips. For example, in 1999, Korea had
a global market share of about 40 percent in dynamic random access memory semiconductors
(DRAMS), worth almost $6 billion (Korea Trade and Industry, September-October 2000, 40-41).

9. However, Korea mainly produces and exports relatively standard memory chips, while
the United States produces and exports relatively more high-tech processors and program
chips (Yang 2000). Thus, by looking at more disaggregated data, these industries could turn
out to be complementary.
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manufacturing goods such as textiles, apparel, footwear, and household
goods, in which Korea traditionally has had a comparative advantage.
Korea also exports to the United States some heavy industry items such
as steel and automobiles. On the other hand, as one would expect, the
United States mainly exports to Korea industrial machinery, civilian air-
craft, military goods, and chemicals—products and sectors where US
firms are traditionally strong.

To further investigate the comparative advantage of each country in
different sectors, we calculated measures of revealed comparative advan-
tage (RCA). This measure is defined as the ratio of a country’s share in
world exports in a particular product category to the country’s share in
total world exports. A value greater than one for a particular industry
indicates revealed comparative advantage in that industry; a value less
than one denotes relative disadvantage. For the United States and Korea,
RCA indices are measured for 1995-97, as shown in table 2.11.

The RCA measures show that Korea and the United States have very
different structures of comparative advantage. Korea has comparative
advantage in textiles and apparel, plastics, leather and rubber products,
steel, telecommunications equipment, office and electrical machinery, and
transport equipment. Korea’s highest indices are in leather products, tex-
tiles, and electrical machinery. By contrast, the United States has a relative
comparative advantage in food and tobacco products, chemicals, most
machinery, and military hardware. The highest indices of the United
States are in food and tobacco products, power-generating equipment,
transport equipment, professional and scientific instruments, and military
hardware. Thus, by this measure, the United States and Korea have com-
parative advantage in different sectors.

It should be noted that these RCA indices are measures of one country’s
comparative advantage in a particular industry in the world export mar-
ket. Thus these RCA indices are global or world RCAs. However, for many
countries comparative advantage differs in different country markets. In
other words, a country may have a comparative advantage in a particular
industry in the world export market but not in a particular country market
for some reason. For example, the United States may have an RCA index
greater than one in the world export market or in Japan but an RCA
index of less than one in Korea. Since the bilateral trade pattern is being
analyzed here, we also investigate the comparative advantage of the
United States and Korea in each other’s markets, not in the global market.
For this purpose, a variation of the global RCA is used to measure local
RCA indices for the US and Korean markets. This local RCA measure is
defined as the ratio of a country’s export share in total (from all countries)
exports of a particular commodity in a particular country market to that
exporting country’s share in total (all commodities from all countries)
exports to that importing-country market.
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The results indicate, as shown in table 2.12, that the US RCA indices
of exports to the Korean market are somewhat different from its global
RCA structure. In the Korean market, US exports have revealed compara-
tive advantage in live animals for food, vegetables and fruits, paper prod-
ucts, and road vehicles, whereas they do not in the global market. But
US exports do not have revealed comparative advantage in wood products
in the Korean market, whereas they do in the global market. The Korean
RCA indices of exports to the US market are also somewhat different
from Korea’s global RCA structure. In the US market, Korean exports
do not have revealed comparative advantage in fish, leather, and other
transport equipment, whereas they do in the global market.

From the bilateral trade pattern and revealed comparative advantage
between the United States and Korea, the two countries appear to have
a complementary trade pattern in most industries.10 But each has revealed
comparative advantage—both in the global market and in each other’s
markets—in fibers, plastics, and office and electrical machines. These, of
course, are the industries where the two countries compete. However, an
investigation of the trade pattern using more disaggregated data would
likely show complementarity in these sectors. Just as in the case of com-
puter chips trade, where the United States mainly exports high-tech proc-
essors and chips and Korea mainly exports ‘‘commodity’’ memory chips,
the two countries are not likely to compete head-to-head or product-to-
product in those sectors where they both have comparative advantage.

Indeed, Korea’s level of intraindustry trade with the United States has
always been lower than that with its global trading partners, although
Korea’s intraindustry trade has rapidly increased throughout the 1990s
both in terms of its trade with the United States and with its global trading
partners (table 2.13). This pattern implies the complementarity of Korea’s
trade with the United States, relative to Korea’s trade with other trading
partners. The intraindustry trade of differentiated products tends to
increase as economies develop and the demands of firms and consumers
become more complex and diversified. This has important implications
for a bilateral FTA since both theory and empirical evidence suggest that
a given expansion of trade should cause less dislocation and subsequently
fewer trade conflicts, if it is intraindustry trade rather than interindus-
try trade.11

10. Statistically speaking, we cannot conclude that the two countries have a complementary
trade pattern overall because a statistical test shows that sectoral RCA structures between
Korea and the United States are not significantly different. A test of Spearman rank correla-
tion coefficient shows that we cannot accept the hypothesis that global RCA indices of the
United States and Korea are statistically independent.

11. See Noland (1996; 1997) for empirical evidence on the negative correlation between
intraindustry trade and trade conflict.
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Table 2.13 Korea: Intraindustry trade indexa, 1989-97

Global tradeb Trade with the United Statesc

Year All industriesd Manufacturinge All industriesd Manufacturinge

1989 38.5 42.4 26.0 29.4
1990 39.4 44.6 28.4 33.2
1991 42.0 45.2 33.5 36.7
1992 43.0 47.2 33.9 38.3
1993 44.8 47.8 35.7 39.6
1994 45.9 50.6 40.6 45.3
1995 47.0 51.5 38.7 44.4
1996 49.6 54.0 40.8 47.0
1997 51.3 58.4 44.0 47.8

Memo items: Period average
1989-91 40.0 44.1 29.3 33.1
1992-94 44.6 48.5 36.7 41.1
1995-97 49.3 54.6 41.2 46.4

a. Grubel-Lloyd index average weighted by trade volume, based on SITC three-digit trade
data from the World Trade Analyzer database.

b. Korea’s trade with all its trading partners.

c. Korea’s trade with the United States only.

d. All SITC industries (296 SITC three-digit categories).

e. Only SITC 5 through 8 category industries (183 SITC three-digit categories).

Source: Authors’ calculations based on the World Trade Analyzer database, CD-ROM ver-
sion, 1998.
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